1966

Leone M. Evans, Ralph Evans, Bernice Evans
Stuart, and Beth Evans Johnson v. Glen S. Stuart :
Appellant's Brief

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the judgment entered on April 20, 1965, in favor of plaintiffs and against defendant and from the Order entered May 18, 1965, denying defendant's Motion for a New Trial.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Trial of the instant case was held on December 17, 1964, before the Honorable Charles G. Cowley, sitting without a jury. On April 20, 1965, judgment was entered

in favor of plaintiffs and against defendant for the sum of \$9,000 general damages, \$870.55 special damages and \$21.64 costs. Subsequently, defendant made a Motion for a New Trial on the grounds that the judgment, (1) did not correspond with the evidence as against the law, and (2) was excessive and included damages on which no evidence was introduced. The Motion was denied on May 18, 1965.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The relief sought on this Appeal is as follows:

A. Reversal of the judgment of the lower court.

B. An Order directing that judgment be entered in favor of defendant and against plaintiffs no cause of action.

C. In the alternative, that the lower court's Order denying defendant's Motion for a New Trial be reversed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 7, 1963, defendant Glen Stuart was a 55-year-old dairy farmer with his home located on his farm which was situated about two and one-half miles west of Kaysville, Davis County, Utah (T-18, 19). At that time he had been farming for approximately 20 years (T-54). Hugh Alva Evans, decedent, was 67 years of age (T-8) and on the day in question, as well as many times previous was working at odd jobs for defendant (T-19).

Defendant is the father of Deon Stuart who is married to Bernice Evans Stuart, the daughter of decedent (T-10). Deon Stuart and his wife lived near defendant on property that was given to them by the latter (T-21, 22). On the west side of the Deon Stuart home is a little fence and on the outside of the fence was a pile of lumber (T-43). Near the house was a gasoline pump which was in use at the time and which had gasoline in the tanks (T-22, 23).

Decedent was a very good farm hand and knew his way around a dairy ranch (T-53). He had made his living and been engaged in farming activities in his younger years (T-18), was well experienced in farming and had earned his living at that for most of his adult life (T-52, 71). He was in good health and could see, hear, and manage himself all right (T-51), his physical condition being such that he was always running foot races with his kids and he could still beat them all in a race (T-86).

March 7, 1963. was a "nice" sunny day with a little breeze blowing in the morning (T-91). There was not a big wind or gale blowing that day (T-53, 92), but what one of the witnesses characterized as a "changeable breeze" (T-53). Between 1:00 p.m. and 2:00 p.m. on that day, decedent began to remove a fence starting on the north end of defendant's property and working to the southwest (T-26, 27). While he was thus engaged, defendant asked him to start a fire to clean out a ditchbank that ran along the fence and along the whole area of defendant's field (T-24, 27). Decedent lit the fire and

burned an area along the ditch. After starting the fire, he was doing such a good job that defendant decided to have him burn farther along the ditches (T-28).

After the fire was started by decedent and during the course of two hours time (T-53) the fire burned along the ditch bank spreading out into a field of wheat stubble and new alfalfa (T-23) and burned up to a point near the gasoline pump and wood pile near the Deon Stuart home (T-30, 38). The fire in the stubble field was easily extinguished and contained by defendant with a tractor fitted with a bucket scoop on the front (T-30). There was a short delay in containing the fire when the tractor ran out of gas. The assistance of decedent was enlisted to extinguish and contain the fire near the gas pump which defendant, decedent and one Rex Terkelson, another hired man, accomplished with hand shovels very readily (T-42). After extinguishing and containing the fire around the gas pump, defendant then told decedent to go "down around the lumber and check it. Then watch it there and we'll be there in just a minute" (T-44, 55). Decedent went over to the lumber pile and was there for only a minute or two when he yelled for help (T-44). Defendant and Mr. Terkelson both became aware of the fact that Mr. Evans' clothing was on fire and they went to his assistance (T-46, 67).

After extinguishing the fire on decedent's clothing, defendant called the fire department. It was about five minutes before they arrived to put out the fire that was burning the weeds near the woodpile. It is significant to note that the pile of wood did not burn (T-51). Mr.

Evans indicated that he did not know how the fire caught onto his clothing but he supposed that it got behind him without his knowing it and caught on his pant leg (T-59, 61) and that he didn't realize that his clothing was on fire until he felt the warmth (T-61). Decedent was confined in the hospital because of the burns he received and subsequently died on April 12, 1963 (T-12).

Both defendant and Donald Evans testified that the usual way to clear grass and weeds from ditch banks on farms is either by burning or chemical spray (T-52) (T-77) and the evidence is that decedent himself had burned ditch banks and other areas on his farm when he was engaged in the business of farming on his own (T-78, 79).

Defendant, a farmer with 30 years experience in farming activities among which is included the burning of ditches said that in his opinion that the day the accident happened was a safe day for burning grass and weeds (T-54, 55).

Decedent's death resulted in an action by plaintiff's against defendant for wrongful death. The bases of their claim is that defendant was negligent in:

A. Starting the fire without first having adequate precautions available to control it.

B. Starting the fire under weather conditions which were adverse due to:

1. dry conditions that had previously existed.
2. the wind on the day in question.

It is the contention of defendant that he was not negligent and that in any event, the decedent was contributarily negligent which proximately caused or contributed to his injuries and death and that he assumed the risk involved.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING PLAINTIFFS' JUDGMENT AGAINST DEFENDANT.

It is defendant's contention that the trial court erred in granting plaintiffs' judgment against defendant. The lower court's error arises from the following: (A) Defendant was not negligent in the way or under the conditions that he burned the grass and weeds from the ditch bank, (B) In any event, decedent was negligent as a matter of law in his actions on the day he was injured, and (C) Decedent assumed the risk of any danger that existed in extinguishing, containing or observing the fire as it burned off weeds and grass near the wood pile.

The elements of non-liability as urged by defendant will be discussed under Point I, in the order presented above.

A. DEFENDANT WAS NOT NEGLIGENT

In attempting to ascertain whether or not defendant was negligent in burning the grass and weeds from the ditch bank on his farm, one must consider three as-

pects of the problem, viz., whether it is unsafe to burn weeds and grass at all, whether it was unsafe to burn the grass on the particular day, and whether defendant took adequate precautions to control the fire once he began to burn the weeds.

The un rebutted evidence produced at the trial establishes that the common practice of farmers, at least in Davis County, where the mishap occurred, is that whenever they desire to clean weeds and grass from the ditch banks that they either burn it off or spray the growth with chemicals. Apparently, the use of chemicals is of more recent origin which has arisen because of availability of chemicals and convenience in the saving of both time and physical output in the employment of the spraying technique. Defendant has burned grass and weeds on his farm for 30 years as is the custom of farmers generally. Decedent burned grass and weeds off his own land when he was engaged in farming activities on his own. He was a farmer for most of his adult life. It is significant that on the day that decedent was injured, he lit the fire in order to burn the growth from the ditch banks. Thereafter, defendant and Rex Terkelson watched the fire while decedent continued to work on pulling down an old fence. Apparently decedent thought that the practice of burning weeds was so common and natural, especially under the conditions of that day, that after the fire had burned for two hours, had burned along the ditch bank and out into a field, and had gone up toward the gas pump and wood pile near Deon Stuart's, that he did not suggest to defendant that it was unsafe to burn the weeds

at the time and place nor did he come to assist defendant and Mr. Terkelson to contain the fire until he was requested to do so. One can only logically think from decedent's conduct that up until the time defendant requested his assistance with the fire nothing appeared unusually unsafe or dangerous nor was defendant's conduct in burning the weeds near where decedent was working a source or cause of concern to him nor to any of the others present at the time. Decedent certainly showed no concern, or at least stated none, that his daughter's horse might burn down. He did not call the fire department or suggest that it be called nor did he ever suggest that additional help be obtained.

A search of the transcript also reveals that there was nothing unsafe about burning grass and weeds on the Stuart farm on March 7, 1963. Every person who testified about the weather conditions stated that a slight breeze was blowing which was certainly not a gale or a wind under any stretch of the facts or the imagination. Defendant stated that based on his 30 years' experience in farming that there was nothing about the weather on that particular day that made it unsafe for burning weeds and grass.

Again there is a dearth of evidence that defendant lacked adequate precautions to control the fire once he had started it. When the fire burned along the ditch bank and out into the field, defendant easily extinguished it and contained the fire there. At this time his tractor ran out of gas and he was unable to extinguish the fire on the field. However, even with the fire burning in the stubble

when defendant did not use his tractor because of lack of fuel, the fire did no damage there nor did it damage the tractor. Plaintiffs make a great deal out of the tractor running out of gas during the time the fire was burning in the stubble field when defendant was attempting to contain the blaze with his tractor. Defendant feels that this contention of plaintiffs compares to the blaze under discussion, i.e., there was much more smoke than fire.

It may be true that the tractor became nonfunctional as an instrument to contain the fire due to lack of fuel. This is really unimportant because the fire did no damage where the tractor was being used. It is certain that decedent was not injured there. The only place that adequate precautions became relevant is at the gas pump and the wood pile. This fire was so small and so far from being a dangerously hostile fire that defendant, decedent, and Rex Terkelson were able easily to contain it with nothing more than hand shovels. The fire at the wood pile burned for five minutes after decedent caught fire and did nothing more than char a plank or two. It was necessary to have the fire department extinguish the fire there, not because it was dangerous or uncontrollable but because defendant and his hired man were concerned about decedent's injuries and could not concern themselves with it any longer.

Defendant urges that on the bases of the testimony of the witnesses as revealed in the transcript that the only reasonable conclusion to be drawn therefrom is that he was not negligent.

B. DECEDENT WAS NEGLIGENT

It is defendant's contention that decedent was negligent as a matter of law in failing to exercise reasonable care for his own safety to avoid placing himself in a position of unnecessary danger, to be reasonably observant of the conditions that existed around him, and in allowing himself to stand in such close proximity to burning material as to cause his clothing to ignite. Further, defendant contends that such negligence was not only a proximate or contributing cause of his injuries but was, in fact, the sole proximate cause thereof.

It should be noted here that Mr. Evans, decedent, had good eyesight, good hearing, could manage himself well, and was so agile and fleet of foot that at the age of 67 he could still outrun any of his sons in a foot race which he was always doing. It is also important to note that he was asked to go over to the woodpile and not expose himself to danger but to merely watch the fire there. The fire at that point was not a raging conflagration but an ordinary grass and weed fire with flames from one to two or three feet high. It was not threatening the woodpile because five minutes after Mr. Evans' clothes ignited the woodpile still hadn't caught fire. There was no unusual weather condition to make the weed fire dangerous or threatening. After going over to the woodpile to "watch" the fire, because of the lack of vigilance decedent permitted the fire to get back of him and burn so close to him that it ignited his clothing. The fact that the fire could get so close to him or he so close to it without him being particularly aware of it either from the

sound or heat testifies as to the docile nature of the fire and not to it as a raging, menacing inferno as plaintiffs would have us believe.

Blomberg v. Truppuka et al. 299 N.W. 11 (Minn. 1941) involved a case where defendant was a lumber dealer and hardware store operator. He got plaintiff to hold galvanized steel upright and in equilibrium. Plaintiff let the steel get out of equilibrium and it fell causing injury to him. To plaintiff's action for the injuries, defendant asserted assumption of risk and contributory negligence. Defendant prevailed. The Court said in effect, that anyone knows or should know that the steel would fall if it got out of equilibrium and that if it did it would fall and could cause injury. In discussing this case the Court said:

A party has a right to assume that others will observe as a minimum the operation of the well-known natural laws.

And further:

The operation of the law of gravity is a matter of such common knowledge that all persons of ordinary intelligence and judgment even if they are illiterate, are required to take note of it.

Applying those principles to the instant case, defendant had the right to assume that decedent would observe the operation of the well-known law that fire burns and if one incautiously gets too close to it, his clothing may ignite and he may be injured by burning. On the other hand, decedent especially with his considerable experi-

ence as a farmer in this regard, is charged with the knowledge.

Lewis v. Cratty, 4 N.W. 2d 259 (Iowa, 1942). A farmer who sustained injuries when his clothing became entangled with the exposed power shaft of a grain combine was contributorily negligent as a matter of law which barred his recovery for injuries sustained when he failed to avoid the power shaft when he knew it was dangerous and had avoided it on prior occasions.

In *Talley v. Bass - Jones Lumber*, 173 S.W. 2d 276 (Texas 1943) an experienced fireman fighting a fire on defendant's premises, whether an invitee or a mere licensee, is guilty of contributory negligence as a matter of law in failing to exercise ordinary care for his own safety against a patent danger.

Cleveland - Cliffs Iron Company v. Metzner, 150 F. 2d 206 (Mich. 1945). Ordinary prudence requires every person to use his faculties of hearing and sight for his protection and to avoid places of danger.

Phillips Petroleum Company v. Miller, 84 F. 2d 148 (Minn. 1936). Failure to make reasonable use of faculties of sight, hearing, and intelligence to discover danger to which one is or may become exposed generally constitutes negligence.

And in *Rohmann v. City of Richmond Heights*, 135 S.W. 2d 375 (Miss., 1940). Not to see what is plainly visible when there is a duty to look constitutes negligence.

Lewis v. Dequesne Inclined Plane Company, 28 A. 2d 925 (Penn., 1940). It is the duty of a person to look where he is walking to see what is visible.

Defendant asserts that if the element of emotion, which is thrust upon the evaluator of the situation because of the injuries and death of Mr. Evans, is purged from the facts of the case, reasonable men could not but conclude that decedent was negligent and that his negligence proximately contributed to his injuries and subsequent death.

C. DECEDENT ASSUMED THE RISK

Defendant incorporates by reference the statements of fact, law and argument from the negligence claim against decedent into this claim of assumption of risk by decedent.

As has already been pointed out, decedent had been a farmer for most of his adult life. He had burned grass and weeds on his own land many times before when he was engaged in farming. On the day of his injury, decedent lit the fire that eventually burned him. He did not protest the starting of the fire, he voiced no concern over the time, place and conditions under which the fire was started, he did not express any fear or concern for his person or that of anyone else, he did not voice concern for the home of his daughter which plaintiffs contend was seriously threatened, he was not concerned enough about the situation to call the fire department for assistance in extinguishing or containing the

fire nor did he make any suggestion that it be done, and he did not suggest or take any action to enlist the aid of other farm personnel or neighbors to contain the fire.

Decedent was an employee of defendant and as such he helped the latter contain the fire near the gas pump. After doing this defendant told decedent to go "down around the lumber and check it. Then watch it there, and we'll be there in just a minute." Decedent went over to the woodpile and had not been there longer than a minute or two when his clothes caught fire even though five minutes later the woodpile still had not started to burn. Decedent was not told to attempt to extinguish the fire himself nor was he told to expose himself to any danger. He was merely told to go to the woodpile and check it and watch it. The implied instruction was for him to watch the woodpile and if the fire got too close to it or started to burn it, defendant and the hired man would come and all three of them would extinguish and contain the fire as necessity dictated. However, either through over zealousness or inattentiveness, or both, decedent unnecessarily and contrary to the instructions of defendant, his employer, exposed himself to danger and was injured.

Herzberg v. White, 66 P. 2nd 253 (Ariz. 1937). Plaintiff who voluntarily and knowingly exposes himself to danger created by defendant's negligence is guilty of contributory negligence which bars recovery for defendant's negligence.

Rirdema v. Chicago and Northwestern Railroad Company, 188 S.E. 603 (Ga.). A person who approaches

a place of danger is under a duty to do so cautiously and with a proper degree of care for his own safety having in mind the danger to which he knows he is exposed.

If the fire was not dangerous enough for decedent to exercise a reasonable degree of care for his own safety while he was near it, then defendant's act on having the fire started cannot be said to have been a negligent act. If the fire was dangerous to decedent then he was under a duty to not expose himself to the danger that existed.

POINT II

THE JUDGMENT GRANTED BY THE LOWER COURT WAS BASED UPON PASSION AND WAS EXCESSIVE.

It is difficult to review the facts of decedent's injury without one's emotions coming into play. Decedent a 67-year-old man, retired, working part-time for defendant, having a wife, sons, daughters and grandchildren enjoying their society, being seriously burned, languishing in the hospital for over a month and then dying at the end of that time.

The cold bare facts of the matter are that decedent, although a loving father and grandfather, had a life expectancy of 12 years. He was retired and worked only part-time for defendant. Other than that he was not productive and made no economic contribution of any real amount to his wife or children. He and his wife both received payments under Social Security and al-

though such payments for him stopped on his demise, the cost of supporting him also ceased. In this respect, Mrs. Evans, decedent's widow, had a net economic gain.

That plaintiffs have suffered a loss in the death of decedent cannot be and is not denied. However, the loss sustained is one of the society of Hugh Alva Evans and not an economic loss such as would justify the judgment which was granted plaintiffs.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts, arguments and authorities cited, Appellant urges the Court reverse the judgment of the lower court and direct that judgment be entered in favor of the defendant for no cause of action and in the alternative that the lower court's denial of defendant's Motion for a New Trial be reversed.