1966

Leone M. Evans, Ralph Evans, Bernice Evans Stuart, and Beth Evans Johnson v. Glen S. Stuart : Respondent's Brief

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

A. THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT DEFENDANT WAS NEGLIGENT.

In claiming that he was not negligent, Defendant relies upon his interpretation of the evidence as set forth in his Brief. However, the evidence, as reviewed hereinabove and as apparently accepted by the court, clearly establishes negligent conduct on the part of the Defendant. The evidence is undisputed that decedent (while working as an employee of Defendant) was engaged in

removing a fence at the lower end of Defendant's field when he was asked by Defendant to start the fire. (Tr. 25) At that time he advised Defendant that it was somewhat windy, (Tr. 48) but nevertheless proceeded to carry out the order of his employer who took over the responsibility for maintaining and controlling the fire while decedent went back to his work on the fence. (Tr. 30, 50) Although the fire was initially started for the purpose of burning weeds and brush in a very limited area, Defendant allowed it to spread up the ditch bank with the idea in mind that he would control it at the time it reached a corner of the field. He was unable to do so because the tractor he intended to use to control the fire ran out of gas so that the fire spread across the field and up near the home and gasoline pumps of Defendant's son, who was also the son-in-law of the decedent. It was Defendant who required the decedent to join him in attempting to control the fire (Tr. 37); and it was Defendant who sent the decedent around to the rear of the home to keep the fire from the pile of lumber. (Tr. 43) Even after the decedent called for help twice Defendant ignored the call until after the third call when he observed the decedent's clothing burning. (Tr. 45, 46) Defendant even admitted that he was aware of the weather conditions, of the dry and flammable nature of the stubble in the field and of the variable winds blowing the particular day in March when the fire occurred. (Tr. 48) Under such circumstances there appears to be no question of the negligence of the Defendant. In fact, we believe the evidence discloses the Defendant was negligent as a matter of law.

This court has heretofore set out the criterion to be applied in determining whether the issue of negligence is to be determined by the trier of fact. In *Best v. Huber*, 3 U. 2d 177, 281 P. 2d 208 the following rule was reaffirmed:

“It has been frequently announced by this court that negligence is a question for the jury unless all reasonable men must draw the same conclusion from the facts as they are shown. *Shafer v. Keeley Ice Cream Co.*, 65 Utah 46, 234 P. 300, 38 A.L.R. 1523; *Lowe v. Salt Lake City*, 13 Utah 91, 44 P. 1050, 57 Am. St. Rep. 708; *Baker v. Decker*, 117 Utah 15, 212 P.2d 679. As was said in *Linden v. Anchor Min. Co.*, 20 Utah 134, 58 P. 355, 358:

“‘Where there is uncertainty as to the existence of either negligence or contributory negligence, the question is not the one of law, but of fact, and to be settled by a jury; and this whether, the uncertainty arises from a conflict in the testimony, or because, the facts being undisputed, fair-minded men will honestly draw different conclusions from them.’”

In the earlier case of *Morby v. Rogers*, 122 Ut. 15, 252 P.2d 231 the court discussed the nature of the evidence which might be used to establish negligent conduct. We quote:

“It is not a new or novel principle that acts of negligence may be proved by circumstances. Certainly, in many cases, particularly where the only eye witnesses are parties having an interest in the action, such circumstances are the only means by which certain facts may be discussed. In such cases it is proper that such circumstances should be evaluated by the jury in whose province lies

the power to believe or disbelieve the testimony and evidence, to observe the demeanor of the witnesses, and to draw such reasonable conclusions from the whole record as may be warranted."

See, also *Sandberg v. Cavanaugh Timber Co.*, 95 Wn. 556, 164 Pac. 200, where, in an action for damages from destruction of property by fire the Supreme Court affirmed the following instruction to the jury:

"It was the duty of the defendant to exercise that care and diligence which a person of ordinary prudence would exercise to extinguish or control any fire started by it upon its premises and to protect the property of plaintiff against loss on account thereof, in view of the nature and extent of the fire, the material on the ground, the weather conditions prevailing, the means at hand, and all the surrounding circumstances, and the failure of the defendant to exercise such reasonable care would be and constitute negligence upon its part."

We submit that the evidence in this case is more than adequate to sustain a finding that Defendant was negligent proximately causing the death of Hugh Alva Evans.

B. and C. DECEDENT'S ALLEGED CONTRIBUTORY NEGLIGENCE AND ASSUMPTION OF RISK.

What has been said above applies equally as well on the issue of contributory negligence and assumption of risk. As stated by this court in the case of *Ray v. Consolidated Freightways*, 4 U. 2d 137, 289 P.2d 196:

"At the outset the mind of the fact trier is presumably in equipoise on the question of whether the plaintiff was contributorily negligent.

The burden is upon the defendant to overcome this balance and to impel his mind toward a conclusion. If no evidence is presented, the burden is not met, and the finding is that the plaintiff was not guilty of contributory negligence; likewise, if the evidence is insufficient to convince by a preponderance of the evidence, the finding is that the plaintiff was not guilty of contributory negligence. Such finding, therefore, may be based either on an entire lack of evidence, or upon insufficient evidence. Obviously, it is not necessary that such finding be supported by 'substantial evidence.' Therefore, if there is any reasonable basis, either because of the lack of evidence, or from the evidence and the fair inferences to be derived therefrom, taken in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, upon which any reasonable mind could conclude that is was not convinced by a perponderance of the evidence either (a) that the plaintiff was guilty or contributory negligent or (b) that such negligence proximately contributed to cause the injury, then the refusal of the trial court to find plaintiff contributorily negligent must be sustained. It would only be when such refusal did such violence to common sense as to convince the court that no fact trier, acting fairly and reasonably, would refuse to make such finding, that it would be reversed."

In *Glenn v. Gibbons & Reed Co.*, 1 U. 2d 308, 265 P.2d 1013, this court held that where more than one inference can be drawn as to what a reasonably prudent man would do under the circumstances the question of contributory negligence is for the trier of the fact. See, also, *Baker v. Decker*, 117 U. 15, 212 P.2d 679.

Defendant has cited several cases from other jurisdictions in support of his contention that decedent was

guilty of contributory negligence. We submit that not one of these cases is in point. Neither of these cases involves a fire or a situation where the relationship of employer-employee exists. Under circumstances similar to these involved in the instant matter the law is well settled that the matter of negligence, contributory negligence, or assumption of risk is one for the trier of the fact. As stated in 22 *Am. Jur. FIRES*, Section 40:

“One whose property is exposed to danger by fire by another’s negligence or wrongful act is justified, whether or not he is bound, to make such an effort as an ordinarily prudent person would make to save it or prevent damages to it. If in so doing, and while exercising such care for his safety as is reasonable and prudent under the circumstances, he is injured as a result of the negligence against the effort of which he is seeking to protect his property, the wrongdoer whose negligence is the occasion of the injury must respond for the damages. In many cases, no distinction is made as to the ownership of the property in danger. If the attempt to save the property is not deemed, in and of itself, the proximate cause of the injuries, the mere fact that the property belonged to some person other than the plaintiff will not of itself prevent a recovery.”

An extensive annotation on this subject is contained in 42 *ALR 2d* commencing at page 488. The case there annotated is *St. Louis-San Francisco R. R. Co. v. Ginn* (Okla. 1953) 264 P.2d 351. The syllabus of that case, as prepared by the Court, reads as follows:

“Where a railroad company negligently caused a fire, on its right of way, which endangered plaintiff’s meadow and plaintiff took his tractor

and plowed a fire guard around his meadow in an attempt to minimize the damage from the fire and then, when taking the tractor to a place of safety, he ran over a root or branch which flew up, striking and injuring his eye, he can recover damages for the injury, from said railroad company, provided he did not act unreasonably or recklessly and was not guilty of contributory negligence."

In the Ginn case the Court stated that there was no question but that the fire was started by one of the defendant's trains. The position and contention of the Defendant, however, was that the accident and injury was not caused by the setting of the fire since the plaintiff was injured in the operation of his tractor in attempting to prevent the fire from spreading. In analyzing this contention the Court stated that the plaintiff was required to use reasonable means to arrest the fire and prevent loss.

"He cannot stand idly by and permit the loss to increase and then hold the wrongdoer liable for the loss which he might have prevented. It is only incumbent on him, however, to use reasonable exertion and reasonable expense, and the question in such case is always whether the act was a reasonable one, having a regard to all of the circumstances in the case."

The court went on to say that the plaintiff in that case "was not in the place of injury by his own volition. He was not engaged in an act of his own choosing. He was discharging a duty owned by him to the defendant to minimize the loss, and this by reason of defendant's own negligence. Equitably, plaintiff should not be required to bear the loss resulting from his personal injur-

ies. Legally, the majority view is that the injuries flow from the fire rather than independently from the discharge of a duty imposed by the fire.”

While the annotation in 42 *ALR 2d*, page 488 does not cover the situation in which an employee is injured, it does review all of the other circumstances which are present in the instant case. As stated at page 509 of the annotation:

“Where the plaintiff received personal injuries while attempting to protect or save another person’s property from a fire, the courts have held that the one who negligently caused such fire is liable for the injuries suffered.”

With reference to the employer-employee situation, 35 *Am. Jur. MASTER AND SERVANT*, Section 320 states the following:

“Another exception to the rule of assumption of risk incident to employment is that servant does not assume the risk of injury incident to his employment when the work is being done under the command, order, and immediate direction and control of the employer or his representative. Where such evidence is produced, the issue as to responsibility or assumption of risk is held, ordinarily, to be one which is properly submitted to the jury.

It is the duty of an employee to submit himself to the reasonable demands of his employer, not only as to the work to be done, but as to the manner of doing it, and it is his right to assume that his employer will take the necessary precautions to secure safety and will not expose him to unnecessary danger. This obedience an em-

ployee properly may accord even where he is confronted with perils that otherwise should be avoided. In any case, but more plainly where a command is sudden and there is little or no time for reflection and deliberation, the employee may not set up his judgment against that of his recognized superiors; on the contrary, he may rely upon their advice, assurances, and commands, notwithstanding many misgivings of his own. It by no means follows that because he could justify disobedience of the order, he is barred of recovery for injuries received in obeying it. He is not required to balance the degree of danger and decide whether it is safe for him to act, on the contrary, he is relieved in a measure of the usual obligation of exercising vigilance to detect and avoid the danger." (Emphasis added.)

A recent case directly in point of this subject is the case of *Nissula v. Southern Idaho Timber Protective Association*, 73 Ida. 37, 245 P.2d 400. In the *Nissula* case the plaintiff owned a D-7 caterpillar tractor, which he used in logging operations. On August 28, 1949 a forest fire was reported near the plaintiff's operations. The plaintiff volunteered the use of his men and equipment and was directed by an agent of the defendant (the defendant being in charge of the operations against the fire) to take his tractor to the fire. The defendant compensated plaintiff for the use of the tractor on a regular hourly rate. Plaintiff was directed to take his tractor up a mountainside to push the brush back and dig a trench to prevent the spreading of the fire. He followed the tractor and its operator and after observing that "it was pretty rocky up there" stopped the driver and returned and complained to the supervisor that it was

not a fit place in which to operate the tractor. The tractor was then returned to safer ground, but subsequently as the fire became more intense the defendant's supervisor directed the operator to return the caterpillar to the mountain at which time, while engaged in clearing brush, it became lodged against a stump and exposed to sudden flareup of the fire so that it had to be abandoned by the driver and was severely damaged by the fire. At the conclusion of the evidence Defendant moved for a directed verdict which was granted by the trial court. However, the Supreme Court of Idaho reversed the lower court, holding that the issue of contributory negligence or assumption of risk should have been submitted to the jury. We quote from the Court's opinion as follows:

"The operator had been directed to take orders from Cross and there is evidence that in going up on the hillside the second time and in pushing brush and dirt at the point where the tractor became stalled, he acted upon specific directions from Cross. As to such acts he was under the control of, and was as to such acts the servant of, the defendant, although at the same time he was the servant of the owner in the manipulation of the machine itself. 1 Restatement of Agency Sec. 227. So if, under the circumstances, it was negligent to direct the operator to take the tractor up on the hillside and to push brush and dirt in the manner done, and the damage proximately resulted therefrom, then the defendant would be liable. These were questions of fact for jury."

On the matter of assumption of risk the Court further said:

"As to defendant's contention that the risks incident to this use of the tractor were assumed

by the plaintiff, it need only be said that one does not assume risks which he does not consent to assume and which are imposed upon him against his will. 56 C.J.S., Master & Servant, Sec. 357; 35 Am. Jur., Master & Servant, Sec. 320. The plaintiff protested against the use of his tractor upon the steep hillside and testified he had an understanding with Roberts that it would not be so used. As to whether that applied to the area where the tractor was burned, the evidence is not clear, but it is sufficient to say that it does not justify the conclusion that the plaintiff assumed the risks involved."

The Court also found that whether the driver of the tractor was guilty of contributory negligence was a question for the jury.

See, also, Section 76-24-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1935 which makes it a misdemeanor negligently or willfully to expose another's property to damage of destruction by fire.

POINT II

THE JUDGMENT WAS NOT EXCESSIVE OR BASED UPON PASSION.

It is hard to see how the trial court could be accused of being influenced by passion in making his award to Plaintiffs for the wrongful death of the husband and father. The case was tried on December 17, 1964, after which it was taken under advisement. (R. 23) Briefs were submitted by the respective parties; and the Court thereafter rendered its decision on March 26, 1965, more than three months later. (R. 35)

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